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About ICE 

Background and Mission 
The Institution of Civil Engineers (ICE) is a leading source of professional expertise in transport, water supply 
and treatment, flood management, waste and energy. Established in 1818, it has over 80,000 members 25% of 
whom are outside the United Kingdom. The ICE has long worked with the government of the day to help it to 
achieve its objectives, and provided independent professional advice to all political parties. We work with all 
parts of the profession to ensure that civil engineering remains a major contributor to economic growth and 
quality of life around the world. 
 

Vision and Strategy 
At its Annual Strategy Meeting (ASM) in December 2012, ICE’s governing body (Council) established a vision 
for how the ICE might look by the year 2025, built upon five strategic strands of activity.  The ICE strives to 
be recognised and operating globally with respect to:  
 
1. Qualification - the qualifying body for a broad spectrum of activity in the built environment. 

 
2. Knowledge - an authoritative and independent voice because of its collective knowledge and emphasis on 

lifelong learning and education. 
 

3. Professionalism - respected for its advice because of the commitment members make to self-improvement to 
provide ethical solutions to societal problems at all levels and scales. 
 

4. Education and Inspiration - global membership is passionate about being members of such a rewarding 
profession and in inspiring the next generation. 
 

5. Informing Opinion - the organisation to which the world’s organisations and institutions turn to help identify 
and tackle the world’s global challenges. 
 

Business Planning 
Council updates its strategy and sets objectives at the ASM at which an annual Business Plan is approved.  In 
addition to setting targets for the five strands of activity, ICE’s latest Business Plan for 2014 sets out three key 
strategic projects: 

1. Digital Delivery - To deliver a step change to the ICE’s digital presence, to meet the rapidly evolving 
expectations of members and other customers. 
 

2. India - To expand the ICE’s reach internationally, by firstly understanding this key market and secondly 
deploying an organisation design based on research and advice.   
 

3. Shaping The World - Council has identified a number of global societal challenges that civil engineers, 
working with others, could help to ameliorate and has launched an Appeal to raise funds for projects to 
address these challenges.  This will include a project to establish One Great George Street (OGGS) as the 
worldwide home of civil engineering (http://shapingtheworld.org.uk/). 

 
Finance and resources 
The five strands of activity and three strategic projects are developed in conjunction with ICE’s financial 
objectives, which currently focus on building free reserves to provide a sustainable future capacity for 
investment. 
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President’s foreword 

 
Geoff French, ICE President 

 
President’s foreword 
 
2013 was another challenging year for the civil engineering industry in the UK.  There are however signs 
that recovery may be gathering pace and with major investment programmes on the horizon ICE’s role 
in developing and enhancing the skills and capabilities of the profession remains crucial.  This is even 
more apparent in the face of a global demand for infrastructure. The consultants McKinsey estimate this 
demand to be a huge $57 trillion by 2030.  Investment on this scale means that civil engineers will be 
central to shaping our future world and ICE must continue to focus our resources on supporting this 
task.   
 

I would like to thank my predecessor, President Barry Clarke who in 2013 set out a vision for lifelong education 
to prepare the profession for the increasingly complex challenges it faces in delivering the infrastructure 
necessary for our health, wealth and well-being. Barry’s message to ICE and our members was to inspire the 
next generation, innovate to survive, inform societal decisions and commit to lifelong learning. 
 

This has been a highly successful year for the Institution, against a background of very tough market conditions.  
We continue to support our members across the world with a programme of high quality, relevant and timely 
knowledge products, backed by local lectures and seminars, and supported by a world renowned civil 
engineering library service.  I am delighted that in 2013 we moved to a system whereby we routinely provide 
web based lectures and talks.   
 

For the first time for a number of years we have increased our membership, a testament to the effort and 
investment put in by our members and staff.  Student membership is also rising, although this is set against a 
small decline in total applications to UK civil engineering courses.  
 

All of this costs money, and, as can be seen from the report, the cost of providing membership services far 
exceeds the revenue we generate from subscriptions.  But a very strong performance from Thomas Telford 
Limited has ensured the Institution remains on a firm financial footing.  I draw particular attention to the 
performance of the NEC Team, and the revenue generated by the use of One Great George Street. 
 

In my year as President I am committed to building on the legacy of my predecessors by promoting three 
overarching principles; integrity, communication and engagement.  These are principles that have always been 
at the heart of what ICE does but as Barry’s work on ethics and increasing the international role of ICE 
demonstrates, how we address them must change as society and the challenges we face evolve. 
 

  

As ICE President I am committed to ensuring that ICE and the 
profession continue to expand the horizons of society.  ICE 
needs to support the global engineering community in its task of 
combining the tools of today, with a vision of tomorrow to 
engineer the world of the future. 
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Delivering public benefit 
 

Benefits arising from activities 
The benefits arising from ICE’s five strategic strands of activity are widespread. 
 The general public benefits from safe and well-designed infrastructure which is delivered through the 

expertise of ICE’s members. This expertise is in turn developed and recognized through our membership 
qualification process. The general public also benefits from the generation and dissemination of 
knowledge, educating the public and ensuring best practice is available to members.  

 Government in the UK (national, devolved and local) benefits from our expert evidence to public 
consultations and from our published policy reports. Both public and private sector employers, and 
through them the wider economy, benefit commercially from employing Institution members who have a 
globally recognized professional engineering qualification.  

 Young people can realise their potential as civil engineers from our efforts to raise interest in science, 
maths and technology in schools and colleges and to encourage and support the young civil engineers of 
tomorrow.  

 Finally, ICE members benefit (i) from having a highly respected qualification that is recognised around the 
world, and also from on-going career support from the Institution, and (ii) through the extensive publishing 
activity comprising peer-reviewed technical journals, books, from access to ICE’s historic library archive, 
and much other professional development material. 

 
Many of the infrastructure activities in which our members are engaged involve, of necessity, the evaluation 
of public good against the risk, cost or other impact of alternative options. The Institution, through its 
activities promotes best practice and the rigorous assessment of sustainability and health and safety 
considerations. These activities all seek to reduce any detriment involved in activities managed or designed 
by our members. The Institution’s own activities as a professional body are not considered to generate any 
detriment or harm. 
 
Membership 
The Institution as a membership organisation has members rather than beneficiaries. Members’ annual 
subscriptions form a significant part of our income, which is used to fund the activities for public benefit. 
Members themselves receive benefits through the dissemination of knowledge and best practice, and from 
the esteem and recognition resulting from their membership of a profession with high standards both of entry 
and for continuing membership. However, without its members the Institution could not continue to pursue its 
charitable purpose. Membership is open to anyone who can meet our professional standards.  Financial 
barriers to entry are relatively small. Student membership is free and, through the Institution’s QUEST Fund, 
bursaries of up to £3k per annum are available to attract able candidates both at graduate entry level and 
also for aspiring technicians. For existing members a concessionary rate of £60 is available for those who 
are unemployed, taking a career break, on low income or retired. The Institution also refers members to its 
Benevolent Fund, a separate charity for supporting members and their families in need. The fund can, when 
appropriate, ensure all membership fees are paid for beneficiaries. 

 
Charity Commission Guidance 
The Council confirms it has complied with the duty outlined in Part 2 of the Charities Act 2011 to have regard 
to guidance on public benefit published by the Charity Commission when exercising any powers or duties to 
which the guidance is relevant. 
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Strategic Strand 1: Qualification 
 
What we said we’d do - 2013 Objectives 

• Increase the practising membership by 2%, and technician membership by 48% 

• Attract a greater number of female members 

• Review, simplify the membership application process, gain Council agreement on proposal for change 

What we did - 2013 Performance and Achievements 

Membership numbers 
Tables showing membership by location and grade are shown below, as at 31 December.  The goal of 
reversing the decline in membership was successfully achieved in 2013, with the overall number of 
members increasing by 2% to 84,038. Membership in the UK grew by 1% over the year, with the London 
Region showing the greatest growth of 5%.  Outside the UK, membership grew by over 5% to 18,579, with 
the Asia Pacific region seeing the greatest increase of 8%. Our post-lapsing campaign, contacting those 
who had not paid their subscriptions, resulted in 1,647 members reinstating their membership or 45% of 
those who lapsed on the 1st May 2013.  Overall, 147 more members moved out of the UK (2,899), than 
moved in. 

Membership by location 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

United Kingdom 66,938 66,238 65,540 64,765 65,459 
Europe (excl UK) 2,494 2,330 2,164 2,039 2,019 
Americas 1,589 1,574 1,572 1,561 1,542 
Middle East & Africa 3,363 3,119 2,721 2,696 2,767 
Asia Pacific 10,575 10,545 10,826 11,335 12,251 
Total 84,959 83,806 82,823 82,396 84,038

 
Membership by grade 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

Fellow 5,345 5,266 5,234 5,235 5,243 
Member 40,203 39,923 39,667 39,387 39,242 
Graduate 17,479 16,598 16,233 16,728 17,512 
Student 18,214 18,457 18,264 17,686 18,760 
Technician 525 569 635 718 817 
Associate 2,105 1,980 1,843 1,751 1,639 
Other 1,088 1,013 947 891 825 
Total 84,959 83,806 82,823 82,396 84,038

 

In terms of membership by grade, 2013 saw increases in Fellows (0.2%), Technician Members (14%), 
Graduate members (5%), and Student members (6%).  The numbers of Members fell by 0.4% and 
Associate Members by 6%.  Compared with 2012, applications increased for Graduate membership (19%), 
Student membership (24%), Professional Reviews (3%), Training Agreements for Graduate members 
(36%), and Technician Membership (9%).  In the last quarter of 2013, we introduced a series of 
membership Webinars providing advice and guidance on applying for membership.  These have attracted 
global audiences up to 200.  The increase in Technician Membership applications was below the target of 
48%.  This was an ambitious target that has driven a significant change in our approach to Technician 
Member recruitment.  We have learnt much about profiling aspirant Technician Members enrolled in 
Colleges of Further Education.  The Technician Apprenticeship Consortium goes from strength to strength 
with in excess of 180 apprentices enrolled in the 2013 academic year.  We are now working with fellow 
professional engineering institutions: the IET and IMechE, on a joint programme to promote EngTech 
registration via collaborative engagement with employers and the development of a compelling value 
proposition for employers.  This programme has led to the development of the EngTechNow campaign 
which will be developed and launched through 2014.  
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The increase in Student membership in the UK (3%) is particularly welcome as it sits in the context of 
falling numbers applying to study civil engineering.  We piloted a bulk upload project for Student 
membership with seven universities taking part in a pilot.  This has proved very successful with not only 
significant increases in Student member enrolment but strengthening relationships with universities. The 
increase in Student membership outside of the UK (9%) has been bolstered by a 24% increase in the Asia 
Pacific Region, which in turn is largely due to the work of our Indian Representatives establishing Student 
Chapters at the top universities.  

Female membership has increased by 7% over the year, with increases across all grades. 

Simplification of membership application process 
Following an extensive process review and external benchmarking, Council approved a programme of 
work comprising three strands: (i) a new ICE Professional Development Programme for civil engineers and 
technicians (replacing the current Company Approved Training Scheme); (ii) a new common, single 
Membership Application process for all aspirant members, replacing current routes; and (iii) redesigned 
web based information, advice and guidance. 

What we’ll do next - 2014 Objectives 

Building upon the good progress made in 2013 to stem the reduction in membership and increase our 
international presence, we aim to increase membership with special emphasis on the UAE and Middle 
East, India, China, Australia and New Zealand, with the following immediate objectives: 

• 2% growth in the number of practising members (i.e. total membership excluding students and retired),   
56% growth in number of Technician Members 

• Develop operations in Trans-Tasman and UAE regions: 225 new members in each region 

• Routes to membership - complete process review, functional and technical specifications.  Establish 
project to be undertaken in 2015. 
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Strategic Strand 2: Professionalism 

What we said we’d do - 2013 Objectives 

• Maximise the value from employers by implementing key relationship management practices and 
employers recognition scheme 

• Embed the membership offer into co-ordinated communication plans, specifically around careers in civil 
engineering and the benefits of membership 

• Increase engagement with members from qualification through the “wilderness years” to Fellowship, to 
capitalise on value they can add to their careers and to the Institution 

What we did - 2013 Performance and Achievements 

A Key Alignment Matrix was developed in 2013, matching ICE activities to key issues faced by employers.  
This matrix has been deployed to those staff directly engaged with employers, as an aide memoire of ICE 
Group activity and is now being used for structuring dialogue with employers.  Each of the top 10 
consultants and contractors has a member of staff identified as the key contact for that employer.  An 
“excellent employer” award has been investigated, and an award assessment matrix has been market 
tested with employers.  Development has been initiated for a national award programme for employers.   

Value propositions have been developed for the individual grades of membership which have been used 
for the pre- and post- membership lapsing campaigns during 2013, as well as for the 2014 subscriptions 
renewal campaign.  Targeted promotional material for the Technicians campaign highlighting career 
opportunities has been developed for each of the three strands of the programme. 

Working with the Chartered Management Institute, a route to the Chartered Manager (CMgr) qualification 
has been developed for ICE’s Members that gives credit for the management attributes already 
demonstrated. We have investigated a volunteer mentoring programme for professionally qualified 
members and delivered by professionally qualified members.  We have revised our route to Chartered 
Environmentalist in line with the changes made by the Society for the Environment. We have developed a 
suite of global ethical standards to work alongside the Ethics Toolkit developed by the President’s 
apprentices in raising ethical awareness amongst the membership. 

What we’ll do next - 2014 Objectives 

We will continue to identify opportunities to increase the Institution’s engagement with Members post 
professional qualification.  In 2014 we will:  

• Promote ICE’s Global Ethical Standards via case studies, and the Ethics Toolkit, with 4,000 unique 
visits to the case studies website page 

• Promote Chartered Environmentalist and Chartered Manager specialist professional qualifications, 
delivering 50 new members of each qualification by the end  of 2014 

• Investigate and identify a partner professional body to offer career development opportunities and 
further professional qualification to ICE Members 

• Increase by 1,000 (to 5,300), the number of members using the online CPD recording tool 

• Implement a pilot mentoring programme, with 120 mentor / mentee relationships established across the 
UK Regions by the end of 2014 
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Strategic Strand 3: Education and Inspiration 
 
What we said we’d do - 2013 Objectives 

ICE seeks to ensure a sustainable supply of high quality entrants into the profession. To do this we 
endeavour to attract more bright young people into engineering, and ensure they have the necessary skills 
to deliver what is required of them, working in partnership with other organisations such as Engineering 
UK.  2013 objectives were to:  

• Implement a co-ordinated schools programme in conjunction with Engineering UK to attract more young 
people into civil engineering 

• Deliver a schools programme of 12 events to attract school children to civil engineering 

What we did - 2013 Performance and Achievements 

• We worked with Engineering UK to deliver Big Bang 2013.  The national event attracted over 65,000 
young people.  Over 1,200 of these took part in ICE’s “tallest tower” challenge, an increase of 20% on 
previous years, and 54% of these were girls.  The event was supported by 19 ICE volunteer members.  
Tomorrow’s Engineers brings together the Professional Engineering Institutions as well as third party 
providers and specialist education charities, such as the Smallpeice Trust, and Primary Engineer to 
manage “Education Outreach”.  

• We delivered a programme of 12 Regional Big Bangs across the UK, again in association with 
Engineering UK, which contributed to the 34,300 contacts with young people and 158 visits to Further 
Education colleges delivered through the UK Regional Support Teams. We provided access to 36 
different civil engineering activities for promotion in schools.  

• We responded to over 260 detailed careers enquiries.  
• Together with Mott MacDonald, we completed a Royal Academy of Engineering project investigating 

apprenticeship diversity that led to The Technician Apprenticeship Consortium’s Apprentice recruitment: 
Accessing untapped talent report.  The report offers advice and guidance to employers, professional 
engineering institutions and other organisations wishing to increase and broaden the skill base in the 
engineering community via apprenticeships. 

 
What we’ll do next - 2014 Objectives 
 
The challenge to recruit and retain high calibre entrants to the profession is increasing. The predicted 1.86 
million job openings in engineering across all disciplines in the UK between 2010 and 2020 means the 
broader engineering profession has to double the number of entrants.  At the same time, the number of 16-
18 olds is predicted to drop by 16% over the period 2009-2020. We have to encourage significantly more to 
enter the profession.  An effective partnership programme is imperative in encouraging young people to 
study the right GSCEs and A-levels for a career in engineering.  We then need to increase the number of 
those who will become civil engineers and technicians. We need to increase the numbers of STEM 
Ambassadors going into schools and ensure that those and others who engage in outreach activities are 
properly equipped and trained to stimulate young people. We also need to assist maths and science 
teachers in delivering stimulating lessons.  In 2014 we will:  
 
• Recruit 100 new STEM ambassadors to actively work in schools within the UK. 

• Develop a new This is Civil Engineering section of the ICE website for Pre-19 activities, link to 
Tomorrow’s Engineers and be the resource centre for presentation material and other collateral.  

• Deliver the construction stand at Big Bang 2014, and regional Big Bang events across the UK. 

• Promote the integration of engineering examples into the UK school’s curriculum. 
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Strategic Strand 4: Knowledge 

In 2013 our overarching goal was to maximise the opportunities inherent in the ICE knowledge programme 
by using industry experts to give it credibility and quality, making it more widely available and developing 
new knowledge sources. 2013 concentrated on improved coordination of our activity across the group and 
with external stakeholders, addressing high profile issues such as digital data and workflow, generally 
referred to as BIM, and means of improving the breadth of our engagement and the quality of our outputs. 

What we said we’d do - 2013 Objectives 

• Create an integrated strategy for knowledge creation and delivery across the ICE Group 

• Achieve customer satisfaction of 90% for knowledge products 

• Increase consumers of knowledge products by 10% 

What we did - 2013 Performance and Achievements 

Knowledge Strategy 
ICE Council approved a strategy for knowledge creation and delivery in April 2013, with reference to the 
overall strategic priorities set out in the 2012 Annual Strategy Meeting. Since then panels have created 
their own year business plans, taking account of information from benchmarking exercises, which have 
also been shared with associated societies to enable them to improve their services. An internal thought 
leadership team was created that reviewed issues on the horizon across the ICE Group. This team carried 
out detailed reviews of CDM regulations and our relations with academic research consortia. The latter is 
to be discussed as part of Learned Society Planning for 2015. A Futures Group of ICE members and other 
stakeholders is looking at the value of scenario planning for ICE and producing guidance documents. 

Customer satisfaction 
The average monthly satisfaction rating for consumers of knowledge products was 92% during 2013. 

Consumers of knowledge products  
Overall we aimed to increase our audience by 10% and maintain our customer satisfaction. This was 
achieved across the piece, with particular success in terms of growing our online audiences. There were 
over 425,000 website downloads in 2013, which was over 50,000 ahead of target.  

This was partly achieved by reorganising the topic pages on the website informed by consultation with 
members in 2012, with greater emphasis on case studies and best practice. A key factor was however the 
impact of having a knowledge marketing team leading specific campaigns. The improvement in use of our 
BIM and Transport pages was stark compared with overall growth of use of the site: 1185% and 298% 
respectively compared with 148% overall. 

We launched a knowledge newsletter to increase focus on our knowledge activities. We also introduced 
webinars aligned with future conferences on BIM and Tall buildings. These attained audiences of 694 and 
895 respectively, with an international audience of over 18%. In 2014 ICE will build on this with more 
webinars and better informed use of social media. 

Other highlights 
ICE’s central events team had a very successful year with a major international breakwaters conference at 
the Edinburgh Conference Centre in September, and the third very successful ICE BIM event in October. 
The latter represented the tip of the iceberg as regards ICE activity in this area. 

The Library continued to develop its e-content and promote these services to members, including access 
to ancestery.co.uk, and BSI’s Eurocodes plus. The Archives received two major donations: the Wolfe Barry 
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Archive and the Bill Brown Archive. The latter is a major collection on long span bridges. Library users 
grew by 1,449 to 39,449. 

ICE hosted meetings of major infrastructure clients, and supported the continued work of the Nuclear New 
Build Best Practice Forum. 

Two project based expert panels were created for major clients and it is intended they will provide a 
knowledge legacy to be shared with ICE. 

Three guidance notes were provided on asset management, and a heat map was developed to highlight 
the adoption of BIM across industry. Work continued on various low carbon initiatives. 

We have established a new examination centre for the Law and Contract Management Exams in Northern 
Ireland. This means we have exam centres in NE England, NW England, The Midlands and Northern 
Ireland. We have plans in the pipeline to open one in London in 2014 which leaves Scotland and the South 
West as the remaining challenges.  

What we’ll do next - 2014 Objectives 

2014 will see the complete implementation of the Learned Society strategy, to increase the number of high 
impact outputs to support the achievement of ICE’s strategic priorities. An important element is ensuring 
we deliver and disseminate follow-up actions from the existing State of Nation reports on Water and 
Transport. It is intended to use the 2014 State of the Nation Scorecards to inform Panel activity in 2015. 
Panels are being asked to include a plan for diversification of their membership as part of their 2014 
activity. 2014 objectives will include: 

• 4 knowledge drives in 2014, focussed on structures and buildings, infrastructure, BIM and asset 
management, supported by a monthly Knowledge newsletter and making greater use of social media to 
improve awareness of all our knowledge activities-whether events, web-based knowledge, or traditional 
printed products. 

• We shall create and deliver knowledge products aligned with the 2014 ICE campaigns of infrastructure 
investment, civil engineering professionalism, global infrastructure, and inspiring future civil engineers- 
with events and other outputs supporting each other to ensure our members are fully informed of all our 
activities. 

• Support the government and other stakeholders to create and disseminate good practice tools to 
support implementation of digital workflow in infrastructure. 

• Improve market intelligence through the activities of the horizon scanning team, better use of web and 
social media metrics, and regional focus groups to ensure our activities meet all our stakeholder needs. 

• Outputs in 2014 will include (i) launch of a new journal, Infrastructure Asset Management; (ii) delivery of 
eight conferences on topics as varied as tall buildings and flooding; (iii) a briefing on water transfer; (iv) 
PAS 128 - specification for underground utility detection, verification and location, (v) RAMP 3rd edition; 
and (vi) biographical dictionary of civil engineers 1890-1920. 
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Strategic Strand 5: Informing Opinion 

ICE is well established as an independent, authoritative voice for civil engineering and infrastructure.  We 
aim to set the agenda with governments, parliaments and industry, deliver expert analysis and create 
debate, all with a view to achieving the best outcomes for society in the UK and around the world. We are 
also committed to ensuring that members are aware of this work and are fully engaged in its development 
and delivery.    

2013 Objectives 

• To gain Government support to implement ICE calls for delivery of the National Infrastructure Plan, and 
strategies for water security and integrated transport planning 

• To maintain the impact of ICE media coverage in supporting ICE public voice campaigns 

• To achieve support for ICE public affairs goals from 75% of industry leaders 

2013 Performance and Achievements 

National Infrastructure Plan (NIP) 
• ICE proposals for reform to the NIP were submitted to HM Treasury in September.  
• The 2013 edition of the NIP, launched at ICE in December, included measures to improve the delivery of 

major projects and programmes, including confirmation of plans to give the Highways Agency operational 
independence.  It also provided an update on the scheme to provide government financial guarantees to 
selected projects and details of an initiative intended to increase investment by the insurance industry.   

 
Integrated Transport Planning 
• State of the Nation: Transport was published in June accompanied by a launch attended by Ministers and 

their opposition shadows.  ICE subsequently presented the report findings, including the case for an 
integrated transport strategy to the Department for Transport’s (DfT) senior management team and the 
Labour Party Shadow Transport Team. 

• In August DfT published, Transport an Engine for Growth, setting out a strategic context for its transport 
spending plans, followed in December by a draft National Planning Policy Statement on National 
Networks - significant progress towards England following Scotland, Wales and Northern Ireland in 
adopting a more strategic, integrated approach to transport planning. 

 
Water Security 
• After calls for the creation of a Water Security Task Force, Environment Agency and the Department for 

Environment, Food and Rural Affairs are creating a new National Water Resources Group which ICE has 
been invited to join. 
 

Media coverage 
• Media hits (print, broadcast and online channels) were up 21% on 2012.  
• Maintained high media profile for State of the Nation report including articles in 4 national newspapers 

and 2 TV interviews on day of release. Total 134 national, regional and trade articles by end of 2013, with 
‘reach’ to over 8 million.  

• National newspaper coverage on ICE response to key government announcements including Budget, 
Queen’s speech and Spending Round. 
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Industry support 
• 2013 saw ICE expand its strategic engagement with industry, business groups, think tanks and 

infrastructure-engaged public affairs and policy professionals in support of the policy goals listed above 
• Highlights included (i) a high level roundtable discussion with the Infrastructure Minister and ICE Fellow 

Lord Deighton; (ii) a number of successful Presidential Dinners with senior industry figures; and (iii) 
successful partnerships with both the Infrastructure Alliance and the British Tunnelling Society (as part of 
the All Party Parliamentary Group for Infrastructure) to present a unified industry front to policy-makers. 

 
What we’ll do next - 2014 Objectives 

With a UK General Election scheduled for May 2015, a major focus for 2014 will be influencing the content of 
the emerging political party manifestos.  In support of this goal a State of the Nation report on the capacity 
and condition of the UK’s infrastructure will be published in June 2014.  We also intend to be more active in 
setting the long term agenda both in the UK and around the world and to engage the best minds in the 
membership and beyond in this task.  Specific objectives for 2014 therefore include:  
 
• Establish the Infrastructure Thought Leadership (ITP) programme, bringing together industry leaders and 

political figures to inform long term decision making. 

• ICE recommendations reflected in all major UK party policy positions with a continued priority on 
integrated transport policy, funding and delivery models for the National Infrastructure Plan (NIP) and 
water security. 

• Maintaining 2013 levels of media coverage, with campaigns to showcase the value of civil engineering 
and the benefits it delivers to society. 

• Increase member satisfaction with ICE effort to raise the profile of civil engineers from 61% to 65%. 
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Finance and resources 

In addition to the five strands of activity, ICE’s business planning process includes an objective of improving 
the financial position and organisation generally, with measurable objectives and monthly reporting of key 
performance indicators. 

What we said we’d do - 2013 Objectives 
 

• Achieve an operating surplus of £1.3m, including a net profit of £2.3m from the Thomas Telford Limited 
trading subsidiary. 

• Realise the benefits of investment in new office premises at Eight Storey’s Gate. 

• Review performance and talent management, embed leadership and change management techniques, 
maintain employee engagement score on “I would recommend ICE as a great place to work”. 

What we did - 2013 Performance and Achievements 
 

Financial performance – the ICE Group operating surplus for unrestricted funds was £4.0m, (£2.7m higher 
than target).  Included within this, TTL recorded a net profit of £3.1m. The overall surplus for the group was 
reduced by a one-off impairment charge for the Eight Storey’s Gate property. 

8 Storey’s Gate - the office move was completed in January 2013.  Staff survey feedback indicated 85% felt 
better able to collaborate with colleagues and 70% felt the space would support better innovation. 

Human Resources – a refreshed approach to performance development reviews (PDR) was implemented to 
improve objective setting and performance assessment, with a greater focus on learning and 
development.  Training and support was provided to further improve core management skills, including 
change management, with a particular focus on new managers.  The employee engagement score, through 
3 quarterly surveys, was maintained above target.   

 
What we’ll do next - 2014 Objectives 
Building on the strong financial performance in 2013, ICE aims to re-build further its financial reserves while 
investing in ongoing initiatives across the five strands of activity, as well as the three strategic projects. 

• Achieve an operating surplus of at least 5% of combined ICE / TTL turnover, in order to re-build financial 
(free unallocated) reserves by at least £1m. 

• Maintain employee engagement score above 64% for “I would recommend ICE as a great place to work”.  

• Improve learning and development outcomes to equip our people better with the right skills to deliver the 
requirements of the business plan and increase engagement, motivation and retention of staff.  
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Strategic Projects 
 
The Institution’s 2013 Annual Strategy Meeting approved a 2014 Business Plan built upon five strands of 
activity, as outlined above: 

In addition, the plan set out to focus on three strategic projects, being 

1. Digital Delivery - To deliver a step change to the ICE’s digital presence, to meet the rapidly 
evolving expectations of members and other customers.  Our targets for 2014 are to put in place all 
the main foundations for a 2015 re-launch of ice.org.uk including a new governance framework and 
improvements to search, e-commerce, navigation, personalisation and email. 
 

2. India - To expand the ICE’s reach internationally, by firstly understanding this key market and 
secondly deploying an organisation design based on research and advice.  In 2014 we plan to 
research and market test the membership and knowledge propositions, to establish a firm expansion 
objective by Q1 2015. 
 

3. Shaping The World - Council has identified a number of global societal challenges that civil 
engineers, working with others, could help to ameliorate and has launched an Appeal to raise funds 
for projects to address these challenges.  This will include a project to establish One Great George 
Street as the worldwide home of civil engineering. 
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Where the money comes from and where it is spent 
The table below provides a high level breakdown of income, as shown in the consolidated statement of 
financial activities for 2013 and notes to the financial statements.  

Where the money comes from 2013 2012
 £000 % £000 % 
Membership subscriptions 11,564 37 11,350 40 

Membership fees 975 3 849 3 

Other charitable income 1,658 5 1,712 6 

Trading activities 14,878 48 13,853 48 

Investment income 374 1 346 1 

Donations, legacies and other income 1,911 6 664 2 

Total Income 31,360 100 28,774 100 
 

Sources of income were broadly in line with the previous year, with the overall increase being attributed to 
higher trading and legacy income.  The table below provides a high level breakdown of expenditure, as 
shown in the consolidated statement of financial activities for 2013. 

Where the money is spent 2013 2012
 £000 % £000 % 
Charitable activities 15,403 56 15,174 56 

Trading 11,674 43 11,598 43 

Governance and investment 309 1 305 1 

Subtotal Ongoing Expenditure 27,386 100 27,077 100 

One-Off Impairment charge – Eight Storey’s Gate 1,278  -   

Total Expenditure 28,664  27,077  

 
The majority (56%) of ongoing expenditure was incurred directly on charitable activities, in pursuance of the 
charitable object set out in ICE’s Royal Charter.  This included £7.3m for Qualification and Membership, 
which covers the cost of admissions and transfers, undertaking professional reviews, and other costs of 
professional learning and development.  £5.9m was spent on Engineering Policy & Innovation, which 
includes the cost of library services, producing technical engineering publications such as Civil Engineering 
Journal, and administering Panels and Learned Society committees.  The remaining £2.2m related to Public 
Voice and Member Communications, which covers expenditure on maintaining and developing the ICE 
website and on producing policy papers such as ICE’s annual State of the Nation report.   

Trading activities accounted for £11.7m, (43% of total), primarily incurred in ICE’s trading subsidiary Thomas 
Telford Limited. While the level of expenditure varies in relation to the volume of trading activity, the key 
measure of effectiveness is the profit generated.  This is then used to support charitable activities and 
reduce membership subscription tariffs.  Trading activities generated a profit of £3.1m in 2013, representing 
a profit margin of around 19%.   The remaining 1% of expenditure was incurred on governance and costs 
incurred in managing ICE’s investment portfolio.    

The cost of front line services to members are included within charitable activities, and accounted for £10.6m 
(69%) of total charitable expenditure (2012: £10.8m, 71%), reflecting a commitment to maintaining and 
improving the range and quality of meetings, seminars, conferences, advice and other services, whilst at the 
same time pursuing operational efficiencies. 

Also included within charitable and trading expenditure were support costs (IT, HR, Premises, Finance, 
Management), totalling £5.5m (20% of total expenditure). Support costs increased by £0.4m from 2012 
mainly due to the impact of depreciation and operating costs for the 8 Storey’s Gate office building, which 
became fully operational in January 2013.    

The one-off impairment charge relates to an independent valuation of the 8 Storey’s Gate property, 
undertaken in July 2013, and is explained in the Financial Review which follows.  
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Financial review for the year ended 31 December 2013 

Overall result 

The Institution’s financial position strengthened in 2013, with an overall increase in reserves of £7.4m, 
summarized as follows:  

 2013  2012 
 £000 £000
Net incoming resources before one-off charge, other recognised gains and losses 3,974 1,697 

Impairment on building (1,278) -  

Net incoming resources before other recognised gains and losses 2,696 1,697 
Net investment gains 1,603 921 

Actuarial gain / (loss) on defined benefit pension scheme 3,075 (2,563) 

Net movement in funds 7,374 55 

The improvement in the net incoming resources before the one-off impairment charge, was mainly due to (i) 
legacy income from the RJW Hewson estate (£872k), (ii) insurance bond of £342k received in relation to the 
Eight Storey’s Gate refurbishment project, and (iii) a higher net profit from trading subsidiary Thomas Telford 
Limited, which recorded a profit of £3.1m (2012: £2.4m). 

The building impairment arose from an external valuation of the Eight Storey’s Gate property in July 2013 
following completion of the refurbishment works.  The valuer’s report concluded that the property’s value if 
sold with planning consent for residential purposes is within the range of £12.6m - £14.0m, with a 70% 
likelihood of consent being obtained. However, with the possibility that consent is not obtained, the valuation 
range has been discounted to £12.0m.  The one-off impairment charge of £1,278k has therefore been made.      

The investment portfolio recorded a creditable overall return of 13.0% (2012: 10.4%) for the year, helped by 
a rally in global equity markets.  This largely contributed to the investment gain of £1.6m (2012: £921k). 

The actuarial gain on the defined benefit pension scheme was £3.1m, mainly reflecting an increase in the 
value of investments, following the strong performance in global equity markets in 2013. Together with 
employer contributions to the scheme of £1.0m, this accounted for the majority of the reduction of £4.2m in 
the net year-end pension scheme liability, from £5.8m to £1.6m.   

Income and trading 

Total income for the year was £31.4m, an increase of £2.6m from 2012 (£28.8m).  Subscription income for 
the year amounted to £11.6m which was £0.2m more than in 2012, mainly reflecting tariff increases on 
average of just over 2%.   

ICE’s trading operations are largely carried out through a wholly owned subsidiary company Thomas Telford 
Limited (TTL) whose principal activities include the publication of books and quality journals, the provision of 
training, the placement of engineers in employment and the provision of meeting and hospitality facilities. 
ICE also runs a number of conferences and seminars directly, in pursuance of its charitable purpose to 
promote civil engineering rather than for commercial return. 

TTL’s net trading result for the year was a surplus of £3.1m (2012: £2.4m) and is detailed in Note 1c on page 
29. The whole of the TTL surplus is gift aided to the Institution.  

Charitable application 

ICE was therefore able to allocate £15.4m (2012: £15.2m) directly to fulfilling its charitable objectives.    
Membership qualification activities accounted for £7.3m (2012: £7.0m) and the Learned Society role of 
nurturing and sharing civil engineering knowledge accounted for a further £5.9m (2012: £5.8m).  Finally the 
promotion of civil engineering to schools, central and local government, members and the wider public 
accounted for the balance of £2.2m (2012: £2.4m).  Amounts spent regionally are set out in the table in Note 
4b on page 31.  
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Restricted funds 

Within the Restricted Funds, the Queen’s Silver Jubilee Scholarship Trust (QUEST) enjoyed another 
successful year. Donations totalled £498k, compared with £549k last year. The number of grants awarded, 
were 329 compared with 325 in 2012. The average grant per recipient was £1.8k (2012: £2.1k).  The 
Research and Development Enabling Fund awarded 2 new grants in 2013 (2012:4) with an average grant 
per recipient of £5k (2012: £13k) as detailed in Note 4c on page 32. 

Capital expenditure 

Capital expenditure of £0.9m (2012: £4.6m) was incurred during the year.  This included completion of Eight 
Storey’s Gate refurbishment £0.3m, and £0.4m for development of a new website and sales order 
processing system for the NEC division in Thomas Telford Limited.        

Cash Flow 

The net cash inflow for 2013 was £1.8m, helped by the strong operating performance and moderate capital 
expenditure.  This compares with a net cash outflow in 2012 of £3.3m, mainly affected by capital expenditure 
on Eight Storey’s Gate.  

Cash and investment policy 
Cash held within the group increased by £1.4m from £2.1m to £3.5m, while the value of investments 
increased by £2.1m from £14.2m to £16.3m.  There are no restrictions on the Charity’s power to invest, and 
the investment policy of the Institution is to seek the maximum return over the medium term having due 
regard to risk. In order to achieve that, the Trustees have not set restrictions on the investments that can be 
held.  Investments are allocated to specific funds within agreed asset allocation ranges, and their 
performance regularly reviewed against appropriate benchmarks.  The market value of the Group’s 
investments was £16.3m at 31 December 2013 (2012: £14.2m).  Gains on revaluation of £1.6m (2012: 
£0.9m gain) were credited to the Group’s reserves.  
 

Reserves policy 

ICE maintains reserves for the following reasons: 

 The trading activities of TTL are cyclical and difficult to predict in the medium to long term.  The Institution 
remains aware of the need to diversify its income streams and to minimize the extent to which TTL profits 
fund the core cost base of the Institution.  

 ICE is exposed to a number of risks, which may interrupt income streams or require additional 
investment. Reserves are held for contingency purposes. 

 Investment balances are subject to potentially adverse change should market conditions deteriorate. 

 Pension liabilities could increase further as they are dependent on scheme investment performance, long 
term gilt rates, investment returns and mortality assumptions. 

 Major long term investments are expected to be necessary in the coming years to ensure ICE responds 
to changes in its operating environment and remains relevant to the needs of society and of its members.  
Reserves are required for “step change” investments, where funding is expected to be in excess of cash 
generated through annual operations. 

The Executive Board keeps under review the adequacy of free unallocated reserves.  This includes 
unrestricted funds before any FRS17 pension liability, reduced by the net book value of fixed assets on the 
basis such assets support the charity’s activities and cannot readily be converted to cash.    

The resultant Council policy is to build-up free unallocated reserves to the equivalent of three to six months 
of operating expenditure with a current target of four months, being £9m.  This figure reflects the best 
estimate of what is required to be set aside for the risks and future investment needs outlined above.  
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In 2013, free unallocated reserves increased by £4.1m to £6.3m, and have now been re-built to 70% of the 
£9m target.  The increase in 2013 is summarized below.  

 2013 2012
 £000 £000

Free unallocated reserves at beginning of year 2,214 4,570

Net incoming resources excluding pension gain 2,617 1,696 

Add: Non cash costs – Depreciation & Amortisation 2,390 960 

Add: Investment gains 1,135 600 

Less: Capital Expenditure incl Heritage Assets (992) (4,612) 

Less: Pension deficit recovery payments (1,036) (1,000) 

Free unallocated reserves at end of year 6,328 2,214 

Council has designated that the Hewson legacy (£872k) will be applied to the Shaping The World project, 
and the Watson legacy (£370k) for a Quest scholarship.  Accordingly, the level of free unallocated reserves 
adjusted for designations, is £5.1m, which represents 57% of the Council target. 

ICE is also mindful of the necessity of maintaining adequate liquidity and therefore maintains a liquidity 
policy of ensuring freely available cash and investment balances do not fall below £6.0m.  At 31 December 
2013 they stood at £14.3m (2012: £11.1m).  

 

Risk management 

Risk management is embedded within the Group.  Risk registers are maintained and regularly updated by 
the Directors, covering ongoing operations as well as major projects.  
 
The major risks identified for the Group include: 
 
Cash flow Maintaining a positive operating cash flow well in excess of £1m pa is essential to 

enable the Institution to repay liabilities to the bank and pension fund, as well as re-
building free unallocated reserves.  
 

Membership Over recent years until 2013, membership numbers had fallen.  Any further decline 
in future would threaten the ability to providing a valued and relevant proposition in 
a rapidly changing external environment, based on highest standard of professional 
qualifications and membership services. 
 

Commercial profits The Institution is reliant on a continued profit stream from the portfolio of products 
and services delivered by the Institution’s trading subsidiary Thomas Telford 
Limited.  The major divisions of TTL face competitive and technological challenges.  
Investment in enhancing and diversifying the portfolio is considered essential to 
ensure its sustainability.   
 

Strategic Challenges Responding to rapid developments in the external environment, to deliver timely 
and effective change to achieve (i) broader membership, (ii) an effective under-19 
strategy, (iii) a streamlined governance structure, and (iv) growth through 
internationalization. 
 

The action plans identified through the risk register compilation and review process are included in the 
Institution’s annual business planning and budgeting cycle and in the individual objectives for managers and 
staff.     
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Audit Committee 
 
The Audit Committee met regularly throughout the year to review the management of risk and to assess the 
overall risk profile of the Institution.   Based on this ongoing review, the Committee maintained its regular 
cycle of reviews and reports on selected internal control processes.  The Audit Committee reports annually 
to Council with a summary of its work, highlighting the major risks, how they are managed and how their 
potential impact is managed and mitigated.  During 2013, the Committee undertook detailed audits and 
reviews in the following areas:  

 Eight Storey’s Gate: audit of project management and controls 
 Membership division: audit of structure and working of delegated committees and panels 
 Procurement: review of preferred supplier arrangements 
 Web development project: preliminary review of project management and controls 

In addition to its work on risk management and internal controls, the Audit Committee oversaw the re-
appointment and work of the external auditors, and the Trustees’ Annual Report, including the initiative 
undertaken this year of streamlining and simplifying the presentation of the report.  
 
 
Members 

The role played by our members who so generously volunteer their time to serve the Institution, cannot be 
overestimated.  Their expertise is vital across a number of charitable activities, including (i) the professional 
review process by which individuals are assessed for qualification to membership, and (ii) acting as STEM 
(Science, Technology, Engineering, and Mathematics) ambassadors to schools.  

While it is difficult to quantify the number of hours donated by expert engineers for these activities, a 
conservative estimate indicates that in relation to the two activities outlined above, well in excess of 4,500 
volunteer days are freely given each year.  At £500 per day this contribution could be valued at 
approximately £2.3m.  Council is grateful for the contributions of members and recognizes that without their 
efforts there could be no Institution. 

 

Auditors 

BDO LLP offer themselves for reappointment as auditors at the Annual General Meeting. 

Approved by the trustees and signed on their behalf on 15 April 2014 by: 

 

 
 
Geoff French 
President 
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Statement of trustees’ responsibilities 
For the year ended 31 December 2013 
 
The trustees are responsible for preparing the trustees’ annual report and financial statements, in 
accordance with applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally 
Accepted Accounting Practice).  
 
Charity law requires the trustees to prepare financial statements for each financial year that give a true and 
fair view of the state of affairs of the group and parent charity and of the incoming resources and application 
of resources of the group for the year.  In preparing those financial statements the trustees are required to: 

 Select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently; 
 

 Observe the methods and principles in the Charities SORP; 
 

 Make judgments and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent; 
 

 Prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume 
that the charity will continue in business.  

 
The trustees are responsible for keeping proper accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain 
the charity’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the 
group and parent charity and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Charities 
and Trustee Investment (Scotland) Act 2005, regulations 6 and 8 of the Charities Accounts (Scotland) 
Regulations 2006 (as amended) and the Charities Act 2011 and regulations made thereunder.  They are 
also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the group and parent charity and hence for taking reasonable 
steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.  
 
The trustees are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the financial information included on the 
charity’s website.  Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of the 
financial statements and other information included in annual reports may differ from legislation in other 
jurisdictions.  
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Independent auditor’s report to the trustees of the Institution of Civil Engineers 
For the year ended 31 December 2013 
 
We have audited the financial statements of the Institution of Civil Engineers for the year ended 31 December 2013 which 
comprise the Group Statement of Financial Activities, the Group and Parent Charity Balance Sheets, the Group Cash Flow 
Statement and the related notes. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law 
and United Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice). 
 
This report is made solely to the charity’s trustees, as a body, in accordance with the Charities Act 2011 and the Charities and 
Trustee Investment (Scotland) Act 2005.  Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the charity’s trustees 
those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose.  To the fullest extent permitted 
by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the charity and the charity’s trustees as a body, for our 
audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed. 

 
Respective responsibilities of trustees and auditor 
As explained more fully in the Statement of Trustees’ Responsibilities, the trustees are responsible for the preparation of the 
financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. We have been appointed as auditor under 
section 44(1)(c) of the Charities and Trustee Investment (Scotland) Act 2005 and under section 144 of the Charities Act 2011 
and report in accordance with regulations made under those Acts. Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on the 
financial statements in accordance with applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland).  Those 
standards require us to comply with the Financial Reporting Council’s (FRC’s) Ethical Standards for Auditors. 

 
Scope of the audit of the financial statements  
A description of the scope of an audit of financial statements is provided on the FRC’s website at 
www.frc.org.uk/auditscopeukprivate. 
 
Opinion on financial statements 
In our opinion the financial statements: 

 give a true and fair view of the state of the group’s and the parent charity’s affairs as at 31 December 2013 and of the 
group’s incoming resources and application of resources for the year then ended; 

 have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice; and 
 have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Charities Act 2011, the Charities and Trustee 

Investment (Scotland) Act 2005 and regulations 6 and 8 of the Charities Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2006 (as 
amended). 

 
Matters on which we are required to report by exception 
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the Charities Act 2011 and the Charities Accounts 
(Scotland) Regulations 2006 (as amended) requires us to report to you if, in our opinion: 

 the information given in the Trustees’ Annual Report is inconsistent in any material respect with the financial 
statements; or 

 proper and sufficient accounting records have not been kept; or 
 the parent charity financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records or returns; or 
 we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit. 

 

 

 
BDO LLP 
Statutory Auditor 
London  
United Kingdom 
 
15 April 2014 
 
BDO LLP is eligible to act as an auditor in terms of section 1212 of the Companies Act 2006. 
BDO LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales (with registered number OC305127). 
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Consolidated statement of financial activities 
For the year ended 31 December 2013 
 Unrestricted Restricted Endowed Total Total 
 Funds Funds Funds 2013 2012
 Note £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Incoming resources  Restated
Incoming resources - generated funds   
   
Voluntary income     
Donations, legacy and similar income 966 603 - 1,569 664 
     
Activities for generating funds     
Trading activities 1 14,878 - - 14,878 13,853 
Investment income 2 239 135  374 346 
      
Incoming resources - charitable activities      
Subscriptions and other income 3 14,197 - - 14,197 13,911 
      
Other incoming resources  342 - - 342 - 
      
Total incoming resources  30,622 738 - 31,360 28,774
    
Resources expended    
Costs of generating funds    
Trading activities 1 11,674 - - 11,674 11,598 
Investment management costs  86 38 - 124 125 
  11,760 38 - 11,798 11,723
    
Net income available for charitable purposes        18,862 700 - 19,562 17,051
      
Charitable activities      
Engineering policy and innovation 4 5,781 76 - 5,857 5,772 
Qualification and membership 4 6,645 654 - 7,299 6,985 
Public voice and member communication 4 2,247 - - 2,247 2,417 
  14,673 730 - 15,403 15,174 
Impairment of property 9 1,278 - - 1,278 - 
      
Governance costs 4 185 - - 185 180 
Total resources expended  27,896 768 - 28,664 27,077
    
Net incoming/(outgoing) resources before    
transfers  2,726 (30) - 2,696 1,697
      
Gross transfers between funds 19 - 17 (17) - - 
      
Net incoming/(outgoing) resources before      
other recognised gains and losses  2,726 (13) (17) 2,696 1,697 
    
Other recognised gains and (losses)    
Net investment gains 11 1,135 431 37 1,603 921 
Actuarial gains /(losses) on defined benefit pension 
scheme 17 3,075 - 

 
- 3,075 (2,563) 

    
Net movement in funds  6,936 418 20 7,374 55 
    
Reconciliation of funds    
Total funds brought forward at 1 January 2013  31,565 4,316 795 36,676 36,621 
Total funds carried forward as at 31 December 2013 19 38,501 4,734 815 44,050 36,676
 
All incoming resources and resources expended are derived from continuing activities 
There are no other recognised gains or losses other than those stated above.  
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Balance Sheets 
at 31 December 2013 

 
 Group Group Charity Charity
 Total Total Total Total
 Note 2013 2012 2013 2012
 £000 £000 £000 £000
Fixed Assets     
Tangible fixed assets 9 26,402 27,890 26,138 27,774 
Heritage assets 10 7,419 7,329 7,419 7,329 
Investments 11 16,323 14,189 16,624 14,490 
  50,144 49,408 50,181 49,593 
Current Assets     
Stocks 12 330 251 - - 
Debtors 13 2,959 2,580 1,086 1,027 
Cash at bank and in hand  3,483 2,078 2,688 1,551 
  6,772 4,909 3,774 2,578 
     
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 14 (8,148) (8,335) (5,201) (6,207) 
    
Net current liabilities  (1,376) (3,426) (1,427) (3,629) 
     
Creditors: amounts falling due after one year 14 (3,070) (3,438) (3,070) (3,438) 
     
Total net assets before pension deficit  45,698 42,544 45,684 42,526 
    
Defined benefit pension scheme liability 17 (1,648) (5,868) (1,648) (5,868) 
    
Total net assets  44,050 36,676 44,036 36,658
     
The funds of the group     
Endowment funds  815 795 815 795 
Restricted funds  4,734 4,316 4,734 4,316 
Unrestricted income funds  40,149 37,433 40,135 37,415 
Pension reserve  (1,648) (5,868) (1,648) (5,868) 
     
Total group funds  44,050 36,676 44,036 36,658

 

The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these financial statements.  The financial statements 
on pages 23 to 41 were approved by the trustees on 15 April 2014 and signed on their behalf by:  

 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 

Geoff French Nick Baveystock David Balmforth 
President Director General and Secretary Senior Vice President 
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Consolidated cash flow statement 
For the year ended 31 December 2013 

 
 2013  2012
 £000  £000
Cash flows from operating activities    
    
Net movement in funds for the year before other recognised gains and losses 2,696  1,697 
Add / (Less):    
Depreciation 1,112  960 
(Increase) / decrease in stock (79)  111 
(Increase) / decrease in debtors (379)  (14) 
Increase / (decrease) in creditors 234  (101) 
Decrease in pension liability operating movement (1,144)  (1,046) 
Impairment of property 1,278  - 
Recognition of heritage assets (90)  - 
Investment income (374)  (346) 
    
Net cash generated by / (used by) operating activities 3,254  1,261
    
Returns on investment   
Dividends received 347  312 
Interest received 27  34 
    
 374  346
    
Capital expenditure and financial investments   
Capital expenditure (1,334)  (4,801) 
Investment purchases (11,863)  (2,596) 
Investment sale proceeds 11,421  2,441 
(Increase) / decrease in cash on deposit awaiting investment (89)  114 
    
 (1,865)  (4,842)
    
Net cash inflow / (outflow) before management of liquid resources 1,763  (3,235) 
    
Management of liquid resources    
Drawings on long term loan -  1,000 
Repayments of long term loan (358)  (204) 
    
Increase / (decrease) in cash 1,405  (2,439)
    
Cash at bank at 1 January 2,078  4,517 
    
Cash at bank at 31 December 3,483  2,078
    
Represented by    
Cash in hand 1,785  1,447 
Short term deposits 1,698  631 
    
Cash at bank at 31 December 3,483  2,078

 
Analysis of change in net debt 31 December 

2012 
Cash 
flows 

31 December 
2013 

 £’000 £’000 £’000
  
Cash at bank and in hand   2,078 1,405 3,483
Long term loan  (3,796) 358 (3,438)

(1,718) 1,763 45
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Principal accounting policies 
For the year ended 31 December 2013 
 
The financial statements are prepared in accordance with the Statement of Recommended Practice 2005 Accounting 
and Reporting by Charities, and applicable accounting standards. The statements have been prepared under the 
historical cost convention as modified by the inclusion of investments at market value.  The principal accounting 
policies adopted by the charity are set out below: 
 
Group financial statements 
These financial statements consolidate the results of the charity and its wholly owned trading subsidiary Thomas 
Telford Limited on a line by line basis.  The charity has taken the exemption allowed by para 397 of the Charity 
SORP not to present its own Statement of Financial Activities. 
 
Funds accounting 
Unrestricted funds are reserves which are available for use at the discretion of the trustees in furtherance of the 
general objectives of the charity and which have not been designated for specific purposes. Designated funds 
comprise unrestricted funds that have been set aside by the trustees for particular purposes. Restricted reserves are 
funds which are allocated by the donor for specific purposes.  Endowment funds are assets which must be held 
permanently by the charity but income arising from the assets may be expended. 
 
A description of the funds in existence during the year is included in note 19 to the accounts on page 41. 
 
Resources arising - income 
The following accounting policies are applied to income: 
 
Donations  
Income from donations is included when the conditions for receipt have been met and there is a reasonable 
assurance of receipt.  When donors specify that donations are for a particular restricted purpose which do not 
amount to preconditions regarding entitlement, this income is included in incoming resources of restricted funds 
when receivable. 
 
Member subscriptions 
Income from member subscriptions is allocated to the year to which it relates, with payments received in advance 
held as deferred income.   
 
Legacies 
Legacies are included when the Institution is advised by the personal representative of an estate that there is 
entitlement, that payment will be made or property transferred and the amount involved can be quantified. 
 
Investment income and interest 
Investment income and interest are accounted for when receivable. 
 
Trading activities 
Turnover arises from publishing, recruitment, catering, room hire and training.  Turnover is recognised when the 
event, product or service has been delivered and the company has fulfilled its contractual obligations.  It excludes 
value added tax and trade discounts. Income from journal subscriptions and event bookings is allocated to the year 
to which it relates, with payments received in advance held as deferred income.   
 
Resources expended 
Resources expended are included in the statement of financial activities on an accruals basis, inclusive of any VAT 
which cannot be recovered.  Expenditure is allocated on the bases indicated below. 
 
Charitable activities 
Charitable activities are those directly related to the objects of the charity and are reflected in these accounts under 
three main headings.   
Engineering policy and innovation  
Qualification and membership 
Public voice and member communication 
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Principal accounting policies (cont) 
For the year ended 31 December 2013 
 
Governance costs 
Governance costs comprise all costs identified as wholly or mainly attributable to ensuring the public accountability of 
the charity and its compliance with regulations.  These costs include external audit, legal advice for trustees and 
costs associated with constitutional and statutory requirements. 
 
Support costs 
Overhead costs include property costs, HR, finance, IT and other administrative costs associated with supporting the 
charitable activities.  They have been allocated to the cost of charitable activities on a basis consistent with the use of 
resources using appropriate measures such as headcount and floor area.  The basis of the cost allocation has been 
explained in the notes to the accounts. 
 
Pension costs 
The expected costs of providing pensions under the defined benefit pension scheme are calculated periodically by 
the scheme actuary and charged to the Statement of Financial Activities so as to spread the cost over the service 
lives of employees.  The costs of the group personal pension scheme are charged as incurred. 
 
Taxation 
The Institution of Civil Engineering is a registered charity and accordingly is exempt from taxation on its charitable 
activities which fall within the scope of Part 11 of the Corporation Act 2010 and section 256 of the Taxation of 
Chargeable Gains Act 1992. No tax liability, current or deferred, arose in respect of the charity during the year. 
 
Leases 
Payments made under operating leases are charged to the statement of financial activities on a straight line basis 
over the lease term. 
 
Fixed asset investments 
Fixed asset investments are included at market value at the balance sheet date. Any gain/(loss) on revaluation is 
credited/(charged) to the Statement of Financial Activities. 
 
Group investments 
Investments in subsidiary companies are included at cost. 
 
Tangible fixed assets 
Freehold and long leasehold properties are capitalised at historic cost.  Capital items having a cost of less than £5k 
are written off in the year in which the expenditure is incurred.  No depreciation is charged on freehold land or the 
main structure of the freehold buildings because the trustees consider that the economic life of the buildings and its 
residual value, excluding inflation, is such that depreciation is not significant.  The values of the buildings are 
informally monitored by the trustees on a regular basis in order to identify any permanent diminution in value which, 
where applicable, is charged to the Statement of Financial Activities.  Depreciation is charged on freehold 
refurbishment costs to write off the cost over the anticipated economic life.  
 
No depreciation is charged on the assets under construction until they are brought into service. 
 
The annual rates of depreciation used to write off the cost of tangible fixed assets in equal instalments over their 
expected useful lives are as follows: 
 
Improvements to freehold property  2.5% to 10% per annum 
Long leasehold property   2% per annum 
Furniture, fixtures and equipment   5% to 33% per annum 
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Principal accounting policies (cont) 
For the year ended 31 December 2013 
 
Heritage Assets  
The Institution holds a collection of heritage assets relating to the history of the Institution itself and the wider history 
of civil engineering. The collection is in three main categories. 
 
 Printed works: The Library contains over 140,000 titles of which 3,320 are dated pre 1840, a recognised definition 

for a rare book. In addition the collection includes manuscripts, original drawings, engravings and photographs of 
or by eminent civil engineers. This collection has been designated as being of ‘national significance’ by the MLA 
(now Arts Council England) in 2009. 
 

 Pictures: The Institution displays the world’s finest collection of engineering portraits and other engineering 
related subjects, over 250 in number.   
 

 Other artefacts: This collection of approximately 200 items includes fine furniture, decorative art and silver, mostly 
donated by distinguished past members, and with a civil engineering association. We also act as custodians for 
the Smeatonian Society of Civil Engineers small collection 
 

 The pictures and other artefacts were valued by item by Bonhams, a respected valuer (for insurance purposes) in 
January 2010 and are included on the Balance Sheet, at the values shown in Note 10. The rare books and 
certain of the manuscripts, original drawings, engravings and photographs of or by eminent civil engineers, 
referred to above, have been valued with reference to auction prices and book seller catalogues and have been 
included within the Balance Sheet, at the values shown in Note 10. Council consider that the above methods of 
valuation constitute appropriate and relevant bases for valuation. The more recent books do not meet the 
definition of Heritage Assets. 

 
Acquisitions to all these collections are made by purchase or donation. Purchases are recorded at cost and 
donations are recorded at an appropriate current value where available at the time of acquisition. The cost of 
obtaining an annual valuation outweighs the value of any resultant benefit. The Institution holds and retains these 
assets as a long term policy for use for its charitable purposes and does not therefore intend to dispose of such 
assets.  
 
Any changes in value of the heritage assets capitalized will be (charged)/credited to the recognized gains and losses 
(as appropriate) within the Statement of Financial Activities. Such assets are not depreciated as they are deemed to 
have indeterminate lives. Regular impairment reviews of heritage assets are undertaken annually. Expenditure which 
is required to preserve or prevent further deterioration of individual collection items is recognized in the Statement of 
Financial Activities when it is incurred. 

Those assets stored in the Institution’s archive or in display cabinets comply with BS 5454, "Recommendations for 
the storage and exhibition of archival documents". Among other things, it specifies temperature and humidity ranges 
for document storage, shelving schemes, and materials for document containers. The archive is protected by a gas 
fire suppression system. 

Collections are managed and recorded in discrete databases and to the prevailing standard (UDC system for 
cataloguing of books and ISAD for the archive items). 

The collection is accessible to the public on request with most of the pictures on display throughout the building. 
Themed displays are arranged by the Library team, with major exhibitions twice a year. 
 
Stocks 
Stocks are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
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1. Trading activities 
Thomas Telford Limited (TTL), which is incorporated in the United Kingdom, is a wholly-owned trading subsidiary of the 
charity and contributed £3.1m of its profits to the charity by Gift Aid.  TTL’s principal activities are the publication of learned 
society books and quality journals, the organisation of courses, provision of contracts and ancillary services, provision of 
meeting facilities and ancillary services, and the placement of engineers in both permanent and temporary positions  
 

Thomas Telford (Holdings) Limited (TTHL) was a wholly owned subsidiary of the charity incorporated in the United Kingdom, 
which had not traded since 2009.  TTHL was wound up during the year. 
 

The charity’s trading relates to the supply of conference facilities for the Institution and external bodies. The charity also 
makes a rental charge to its trading subsidiary for use of part of the freehold premises at One Great George Street.  
 
1a.  Activities for generating funds 
The main classes of business and their contribution to turnover and net incoming resources are:  
 
 Turnover Turnover Trading result Trading result
 2013 2012 2013 2012
 £000 £000 £000 £000
      
Publishing  7,088 6,477 2,509 1,933 
Venue hire, catering and training  7,179 7,929 412 415 
Recruitment and provision of temporary staff  1,491 941 130 44 
Conferences and events  1,994 1,372 153 (137) 
  17,752 16,719 3,204 2,255 
 
Less intergroup trading 

 
(2,874) (2,866) 

 
- - 

      
 14,878 13,853 3,204 2,255
      
The geographical markets supplied are as follows:      
      
United Kingdom  11,528 11,072   
Rest of the World  3,350 2,781   
 14,878 13,853  
 
1b. Costs of generating funds 
 Direct Regional Allocated Total  Total 
 Costs Costs Costs 2013 2012
 £000 £000 £000s £000s £000s
      
Trading Activities 10,769 379 526 11,674 11,598
 
1c. Group trading activities 
A summary of the Group’s trading results is shown below: 
 ICE TTL Inter entity  Total Total 
 2013 2013 adj 2013 2012
 £000 £000 £000s £000s £000s
      
Turnover 1,994 15,758 (2,874) 14,878 13,853 
Cost of sales and administrative expenses (1,843) (12,705) 2,874 (11,674) (11,598) 
Profit  on ordinary activities before interest 151 3,053 - 3,204 2,255 
Interest receivable / (payable) 18 (18) - - - 
Interest (payable) / receivable (16) 16 - - - 
Net result 153 3,051 - 3,204 2,255 
Gift Aid - (3,051) 3,051 - - 
   
Retained in the subsidiary n/a - n/a - -
      
Retained in the charity 153 n/a 3,051 3,204 2,255

 
Included in cost of sales and administrative expenses was £5.1m (2012: £5.6m) relating to staff costs 
The sum of £3.1m (2012: £2.4m) was Gift Aided to the charity by Thomas Telford Limited.  
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2. Investment income and interest 
Unrestricted Restricted Total Total 

 funds funds 2013 2012
 £000 £000s £000s £000s
     
Dividends from investments on recognised stock exchanges 215 132 347 312 
Interest income 24 3 27 34 
  
 239 135 374 346

 
 

3. Incoming resources from charitable activities 
 Engineering Qualification Public voice  
 policy and and and member Total Total
 Innovation Membership communication 2013 2012
 £000 £000 £000s £000s £000s
      
Annual subscriptions - 11,564 - 11,564 11,350 
Examinations and other training fees - 975 - 975 849 
Other income 990 470 198 1,658 1,712 
     
 990 13,009 198 14,197 13,911
  
Geographical analysis of annual subscriptions  
United Kingdom  9,350 9,179 
Rest of the World  2,214 2,171 
  
  11,564 11,350

 
 

4. Charitable activities 
 Grant  
 Direct Regional funding of Allocated Total Total
 costs direct costs activities costs 2013 2012
 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
      Restated 
Costs after allocation       
Engineering policy and innovation 2,734 940 47 2,136 5,857 5,772 
Qualification and membership 1,827 2,259 654 2,559 7,299 6,985 
Public voice and member communication 893 1,121 - 233 2,247 2,417 
      
 5,454 4,320 701 4,928 15,403 15,174
      
Governance 152 - - 33 185 180 
      
 5,606 4,320 701 4,961 15,588 15,354

 
The 2012 comparatives have been restated following the integration of IT development resources across ICE and TTL Ltd to 
ensure consistent reporting of results. 
 
4a. Charitable direct costs 

 Engineering Qualification Public voice 
 policy and and and member Total Total
 Innovation membership communication 2013 2012
 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
     
Staff costs 1,025 1,206 269 2,500 2,493 
Other direct costs 1,709 621 624 2,954 3,233 
      
 2,734 1,827 893 5,454 5,726
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4b. Regional costs 
A significant part of ICE’s activities are carried out in the 12 UK Regions and in 90 countries where ICE representatives are 
based.  The costs expended by the UK and overseas regions directly are summarised below: 

 
 Staff 

Costs Comms 
Travel & 
meeting 

Event 
costs 

Other 
Ancillary 

Total 
2013 

Total 
2012 

UK Regions £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s
East Midlands 139 5 6 43 18 211 227 
East of England 180 6 7 28 9 230 233 
London 299 32 12 135 10 488 414 
North East 131 2 9 31 4 177 211 
North West 222 12 21 71 25 351 331 
Northern Ireland 130 7 7 61 16 221 206 
Scotland 199 16 23 124 43 405 434 
South East  319 3 27 81 23 453 468 
South West 194 3 14 37 13 261 271 
Wales 179 10 23 73 77 362 348 
West Midlands 140 3 10 64 30 247 296 
Yorks & Humber 171 6 10 32 9 228 238 
        
Regional support 94 - 37 14 12 157 196 
        
UK regions 2,397 105 206 794 289 3,791 3,873
        
Overseas Branches   
Grants  453 419 
Overseas Support  455 438 
   
  4,699 4,730
   
Included within:   
Trading Costs (note 1)  379 387 
Charitable costs (note 4)  4,320 4,343 
   
  4,699 4,730

 

No. 
Members 

No. 
Members Subscriptions Fees 

Event 
Income 

Other 
Income 

Total 
Income 

Contrib 
/Region 

Contrib  
/Member 

Dec 2012 Dec 2013 UK Regions £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £
3,493 3,485 East Midlands 486 26 25 6 543 331 95 
5,127 5,065 East of England 791 51 11 - 853 623 123 
8,508 8,921 London 1,172 143 114 7 1,436 948 105 
2,127 2,141 North East 287 25 14 2 328 150 70 
6,110 6,091 North West 895 55 46 2 998 650 107 
2,182 2,121 Northern Ireland 253 19 46 6 324 104 49 
8,100 8,265 Scotland 1,147 97 64 2 1,310 905 110 

10,862 10,880 South East  1,693 88 33 9 1,823 1,369 126 
6,066 6,163 South West 886 63 31 - 980 718 117 
3,395 3,541 Wales 482 27 71 11 591 228 64 
4,363 4,405 West Midlands 646 40 45 - 731 484 110 
4,431 4,381 Yorks & Humber 612 35 18 1 666 437 100 

          
- - Regional support - - - - - (157)  
          

64,764 65,459 UK regions 9,350 669 518 46 10,583 6,790 104 
17,632 18,579 Non UK branches 2,214 306 - 175 2,695 1,788 96 

     
82,396 84,038  11,564 975 518 221 13,278 8,578 102

The contribution per region represents the subscriptions, fees, event and other income collected within each region.  The 
balance is applied centrally towards the costs of the three charitable purposes, including central services and support costs, 
and governance.  
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4c. Grant funding of activities 
 2013 No.  2012 No. 
The number of individuals and organisations who received awards, prizes and scholarships:   
Research and Development Enabling Fund – individuals 1 1 
Research and Development Enabling Fund – organisations 1 4 
Queen’s Jubilee Scholarship Trust - individuals  329 325 
Queen’s Jubilee Scholarship Trust - organisations 1 1 
Trust Funds – individual awards and prizes 93 154 
  
Trading Activities 425 485

 
Details of the grants awarded to organisations from the Research and Development 
Enabling Fund and included in Grant funding of activities in 2013 are as follows: 

  £000
 

A Framework for the Prediction of Geotechnical Rate Effects in Fine Grained Soils University of Dundee 2,500 
   
  

 
Details of the grants awards to organisations from the Queen’s Jubilee Scholarship Trust 
and included in Grant Funding of activities in 2013 are as follows: 

Build Camp Sponsorship  13 
   
  

 
4d. Support costs for allocation 

 Charity 
 Premises IT management Total Total
 costs 2013 costs 2013 costs 2013 2013 2012
 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
     Restated

Engineering policy and innovation 518 586 1,032 2,136 1,967 
Qualification and membership 618 698 1,243 2,559 2,315 
Public voice and member communication 57 64 112 233 330 
     
 1,193 1,348 2,387 4,928 4,612
  
Governance - - 33 33 57 
Trading activities 208 - 318 526 400 
     
 1,401 1,348 2,738 5,487 5,069

 
The methods used to apportion overheads are as follows:  2013 2012
Charity Management costs  £000 £000
  Restated
Finance Headcount 813 659 
Pension overhead Employer’s NI 115 188 
HR Headcount 384 350 
Office of the Director General Headcount 448 625 
Depreciation and repairs Estimate usage 978 739 
  2,738 2,561
Premises costs Headcount 1,401 1,155 
IT costs Headcount 1,348 1,353 
  5,487 5,069
    

The 2012 comparatives have been restated following the integration of IT development resources across ICE and TTL Ltd to 
ensure consistent reporting of results   
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4e. Direct governance costs include:  2013 2012
  £000 £000
Auditors’ remuneration (charity only)  15 15 
Trustee costs  104 108 

  119 123
 
5. Net incoming resources 

 Group Group 
This is stated after charging: 2013 2012
 £000 £000

Depreciation 1,112 960 
Auditors’ remuneration   

- Audit Services 28 28 

- Tax Services 8 6 
Investment management fees 124 125 
Operating leases 25 33 
Property leases 125 242 

 
6. Staff costs 

 Group Group 
The payroll costs for the year were as follows: 2013 2012
 £000 £000

Wages and salaries 9,589 9,889 
Social security costs 1,038 1,041 
Pension costs 1,240 1,299 
Temporary staff, recruitment and training 673 537 
   
 12,540 12,766
  
 Group Group 
Average number of UK employees (full-time equivalents) of the group during the year: 2013 2012
 £000 £000

Charitable activities 176 166 
Trading activities 103 117 
Governance 2 2 

 281 285

The number of employees paid by the Group whose emoluments, excluding employer’s pension contributions, exceeded 
£60,000 are analysed as follows: 

 Group Group 
 2013 2012
£60,000 - £70,000 4 6 
£70,001 - £80,000 3 3 
£80,001 - £90,000 1 4 
£90,001 - £100,000 2 1 
£100,001 - £110,000 - 1 
£110,001 - £120,000 2 - 
£120,001 - £130,000 - 1 
£130,001 - £140,000 - 2 
£140,001 - £150,000 1 -
£150,001 - £160,000 1 - 
£160,001 - £170,000 - - 
£170,001 - £180,000 - - 
£180,001 - £190,000 1 - 

Pension benefits are accruing for 6 employees as a result of the salary link in the defined benefit scheme for those in the 
bandings above £60k (2012: 7).  The scheme closed to future accrual in November 2010.  Pension payments in respect of the 
relevant employees to the defined contribution scheme totalled £108k (2012: £229k). 
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7. Trustee remuneration 
None of the trustees receive any remuneration for their services as trustees of the charity.  Details of travel and subsistence 
expenses reimbursed to or paid on behalf of Trustees, including overseas Presidential tours and participation in membership 
and learned society activity are summarised below. 

 2013 2013 2012 2012
 £000 No. £000 No.
     
Expenses reimbursed to or paid on behalf of Trustees 98 56 130 46 

The charity retains a leasehold property close to its London headquarters which is available to senior officers of the Institution 
while staying overnight in London on charity business.  Trustee liability insurance has been purchased by the charity at a cost of 
£6k (2012: £6k).  

8. Related parties 
The following payments, which have been made on an arm’s length basis and in accordance with Charity Commission guidance 
(CC11), have been made to Trustees or parties related to them in respect of services to ICE.  

  2013 2012
Trustee Recipient Nature of payment £000 £000
   
M Qualters Mrs A Qualters - (Spouse) Salary - SE England, Regional Support  17 16 
E McCann Think Up Ltd - (Director) Donation towards Build Camp pilot scheme 13 3 

9. Tangible fixed assets 
Tangible Fixed Assets - Group Long Fixtures 
 Freehold Leasehold Fittings and Total
 property Property equipment 2013
 £000 £000 £000 £000
Cost / Valuation    
At 1 January 2013 32,529 77 6,448 39,054
Additions 320 - 582 902
Disposals - - (553) (553)
     
At 31 December 2013 32,849 77 6,477 39,403 
  
Depreciation  
At 1 January 2013 6,166 27 4,971 11,164
Provided during the year 572 1 539 1,112
Disposals - - (553) (553)
Impairment (see below) 1,278 - - 1,278
     
At 31 December 2013 8,016 28 4,957 13,001 
  
Net book value at 31 December 2013 24,833 49 1,520 26,402 
  
Net book value at 31 December 2012 26,363 50 1,477 27,890 

 
All Group assets are used in support of charitable or trading activities.  Freehold property includes two assets.  Firstly, the 
Institution’s headquarters at One Great George Street, which is shown at historical cost of £13.3m.  There is no reasonable 
likelihood that it will be considered for sale in the foreseeable future.  The property was independently valued as at 31 January 
2011 in accordance with the requirements of FRS 15 and RICS Valuation Standards, showing a total Market Value of £14.7m.   
Secondly, the Institution’s London staff office at Eight Storey’s Gate, which was independently valued at 26 July 2013 in 
accordance with the requirements of FRS 15 and RICS Valuation Standards on an “existing use basis” at £8.5m, and on a net 
realisable value basis of £12.0m.  In accordance with accounting standard FRS11 (Impairment of Fixed Assets and Goodwill) 
the property has been included at £12.0m, being the higher of net realisable value, and value in use.  It should be noted that 
the valuation report stated that the property’s value if sold with planning consent for residential purposes, would be between 
£12.6m - £14.0m, however the net realisable value was discounted to £12.0m because of the possibility, estimated by the 
valuer as a 30% likelihood, that planning consent cannot be obtained.  

 
The Trustees consider that the market values of the respective properties are not less than the carrying values included 
above.  
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9. Tangible fixed assets (…continued) 
 
 

Tangible Fixed Assets - Charity Long Fixtures 
 Freehold Leasehold Fittings and Total
 property Property equipment 2013
 £000 £000 £000 £000
Cost / Valuation     
At 1 January 2013 32,529 77 5,212 37,818
Additions 320 - 343 663
Disposals - - (238) (238)
    
At 31 December 2013 32,849 77 5,317 38,243
   
Depreciation   
At 1 January 2013 6,166 27 3,851 10,044
Provided during the year 572 1 448 1,021
Disposals - - (238) (238)
Impairment (see above) 1,278 - - 1,278
     
At 31 December 2013 8,016 28 4,061 12,105
     
Net book value at 31 December 2013 24,833 49 1,256 26,138
     
Net book value at 31 December 2012 26,363 50 1,361 27,774 

 
10. Heritage Assets 

 Group Group 
 2013 2012
 £000 £000
   
Items included at value at 1 January 7,329 7,329 
Additions - - 
Donations 90 - 
   
Valuation at 31 December 7,419 7,329
  
Printed works 2,503 2,465 
Pictures 2,734 2,734 
Other artefacts 2,182 2,130 
   
 7,419 7,329

 
The printed works, as described in the accounting policy, were valued at 2011 utilising in-house expertise with reference to 
auction prices and bookseller catalogues.  The pictures and other artefacts were valued in January 2010 by Bonhams.  The 
Trustees consider there to be no material impairment on the present market values / replacement values compared to those 
stated.  Approximately £10k pa is spent on conservation of the Heritage Assets. 

In accordance with FRS30, the heritage assets were brought into the financial statements in 2011. Other than those 
donations shown above, there have been no other additions or disposals. 
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11.  Fixed asset investments 

 Group Group Charity Charity
 2013 2012 2013 2012
 £000 £000 £000 £000
     
Listed investments 16,321 14,187 16,321 14,187 
Unlisted investments 2 2 303 303 
    
 16,323 14,189 16,624 14,490 
 
 Group Group Charity Charity
 2013 2012 2013 2012
 
Unlisted investments comprise: 

£000 £000 £000 £000

Investments at cost in subsidiaries - - 1 1 
Long term loans to subsidiaries - - 300 300 
Investment in CEEQUAL Limited 2 2 2 2 
     
 2 2 303 303
 
Listed investments 
            Group and Charity
 2013 2012
 £000 £000
   
Market value as at 1 January 14,187 13,225 
Acquisitions at cost 11,863 2,596 
Sales proceeds (11,421) (2,441) 
Net movement in cash balance 89 (114) 
Net investment gains  1,603 921 
Listed investments at market value at 31 December 16,321 14,187 
Historical cost at 31 December 14,807 14,058 
   
Unrealised investment gains 1,514 129
 
An analysis of the market value of quoted Unrestricted Restricted Endowment Total
Investments at 31 December 2013 is as follows: Funds Funds Funds 2013
 £000 £000 £000 £000
    
Fixed interest 1,179 682 241 2,102
UK equities 3,371 1,330 248 4,949
Overseas equities 4,669 1,597 194 6,460
Alternative investments 1,444 333 - 1,777
Property 444 183 79 706
Cash funds/cash on deposit awaiting investment 181 93 53 327
    
 11,288 4,218 815 16,321

 

Individual investments held at 31 December 2013 representing more than 5% of the above portfolio were: 
 £’000
Vanguard Investment Series FTSE 100 EFT Inc Nav 1,237
Capita Financial Mngrs Trojan Income O Inc Nav 1,197
Cazenove Investment Fund Management UK Opportunities X Inc 1,119
Somerset Capital Management LLP Emerging Markets Dividend Gth OEIC A Inc 876
HSBC ETFS PLC S&P 500 ETF USF Inc Nav 1,059
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11.  Fixed asset investments (cont) 

Unlisted investments 
At 31 December 2013, the charity owned the entire issued share capital of 502 ordinary shares of £1 each in Thomas 
Telford Limited.  The trading results are set out in note 1.  At 31 December 2013 the aggregate amount of TTL’s assets, 
liabilities, share capital and reserves was: 
 
 TTL TTL
 2013 2012
 £000 £000
Fixed assets 265 116 
Current assets 3,497 3,772 
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year (3,446) (3,572) 
   
 316 316
 
In addition to the above, there is a long term loan of £300k, which relates to a long term loan from the charity (Parent 
Undertaking).  This loan is repayable on one year’s notice and is secured by debenture over the assets of the subsidiary.  
The interest payable to the charity is calculated quarterly at the daily bank rate ruling during the quarter or 6% whichever is 
greater.  
 
ICE has a 12.45% shareholding in CEEQUAL Limited which was formed to operate an environmental quality assessment 
and award scheme.  The holding is represented by 31,850 ordinary shares.  The Trustees consider there to be no material 
impairment on the investment in CEEQUAL.  
 
12. Stocks 
 Group Group Charity Charity
 2013 2012 2013 2012
 £000 £000 £000 £000
    
Raw materials and consumables 26 25 - - 
Finished goods and good for resale 304 226 - - 
    
 330 251 - - 
 
13. Debtors: amounts falling due within one year 
 Group Group Charity Charity
 2013 2012 2013 2012
 £000 £000 £000 £000
    
Trade debtors 2,090 1,651 392 346 
Other debtors 136 146 125 93 
Prepayments and accrued income 733 716 569 520 
Taxation and social security - 67 - 68 
    
 2,959 2,580 1,086 1,027 
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14. Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 
 Group Group Charity Charity
 2013 2012 2013 2012
 £000 £000 £000 £000
    
Trade creditors 1,222 1,205 575 483 
Amounts due to subsidiary undertakings - - 498 1,443 
Taxation and social security 413 304 413 304 
Other creditors 557 579 410 363 
Accruals 1,086 1,538 614 1,094 
Deferred income 4,502 4,351 2,323 2,162 
Loan falling due within one year 368 358 368 358 
    
 8,148 8,335 5,201 6,207 
   
 Group Group Charity Charity
 2013 2012 2013 2012
   
   
Deferred Income £000 £000 £000 £000
Balance at 1 January 4,351 4,364 2,162 2,120 
Amount released to incoming resources (4,351) (4,364) (2,162) (2,120) 
Amount deferred in the year 4,502 4,351 2,323 2,162 
    
Balance at 31 December 4,502 4,351 2,323 2,162 

 
Deferred income includes membership subscriptions and magazine subscriptions received in advance. 
 
Creditors: amounts falling due after one year Group Group Charity Charity
 2013 2012 2013 2012
     
Loan falling due after one year 3,070 3,438 3,070 3,438
   
The loan is repayable as follows: Group Group Charity Charity
 2013 2012 2013 2012
    
Within one year 368 358 368 358 
Between two and five years 1,578 1,535 1,578 1,535 
After five years 1,492 1,903 1,492 1,903 
    
 3,438 3,796 3,438 3,796
 
In December 2010, Council approved a loan for £4.0m with HSBC Bank plc for the refurbishment of Eight Storey’s Gate.  
The term of the loan is eleven years to be repaid in equal monthly instalments until May 2022.  Interest is incurred at 2.25% 
over the Bank of England Sterling Base Rate.  Repayments of £38k inclusive of interest commenced in June 2012.  The loan 
is secured by a first charge on the Institution’s One Great George Street property and is fully drawn. 
 
15. Operating lease commitments 
Annual commitments under non-cancellable operating leases for photocopiers and office rental which expire: 
 
 Group Group Group Group
 2013 2013 2012 2012
 

Other 
Land/ 

Buildings 
 

Other 
Land/ 

Buildings 
 £000 £000 £000 £000
Within one year - 18 - 54 
Between one and two years 18 33 - 13 
Between two and five years - 47 18 - 
    
 18 98 18 67 
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16. Commitments and contingencies 
There were no contingencies at 31 December 2013 or 31 December 2012 
 
Capital commitments by the charity, contracted or authorised at 31 December 2013 were £209k (2012: £281k). 
 
 
17. Pension Schemes 
 
Defined benefit pension schemes 
Benefits under the defined benefit pension scheme, which closed to new members in February 2002, are based on 
employees’ final remuneration and length of service.  The scheme closed to future service accrual on 30 November 2010.  
The pension expense charged to the Statement of Financial Activities makes no allowance for actuarial gains and losses 
during the year.  Actuarial gains and losses are recognised separately in the Statement of Financial Activities in the year in 
which they occur.  A full actuarial valuation was carried out as at 31 December 2010 and will be carried out as at 31 
December 2013.  The 2013 exercise is expected to be completed in Q4 2014. 

 2013 2012
Components of pension cost £000 £000
  
Interest cost 1,544 1,525 
Expected return on plan assets (1,653) (1,571) 
Total pension gain recognised in the Statement of Financial Activities (109) (46) 
Actuarial (gains) / losses immediately recognised (3,075) 2,563 
Cumulative amount of actuarial losses immediately recognised 8,988 12,063 
   
Amounts recognised in the balance sheet   
Present value of funded obligation (37,632) (37,354) 
Fair value of plan assets 35,984 31,486 
Pension scheme liability (1,648) (5,868)
   
Change in benefit obligation   
Benefit obligation at 1 January 37,354 32,949 
Interest cost 1,544 1,525 
Actuarial (gains) / losses (70) 3,934 
Benefits paid (1,196) (1,054) 
Benefit obligation at 31 December 37,632 37,354
   
Analysis of defined benefit obligation   
Plans that are wholly or partly funded 37,632 37,354 
   
 
Change in plan assets 

  

Fair value of plan assets at 1 January 31,486 28,598 
Expected return on plan assets 1,653 1,571 
Actuarial gains / (losses) 3,005 1,371 
Employer contributions 1,036 1,000 
Benefits paid (1,196) (1,054) 

Fair value of plan assets at 31 December 35,984 31,486 

Funded status and net amount recognised (1,648) (5,868) 
 
The triennial actuarial valuation as at 31 December 2010 showed a deficit of £5.3m, an increase from the previous actuarial 
valuation at 31 December 2007 which showed a deficit of £4.3m. 
 
Fund assets --------Plan assets-------
The weighted average asset allocation at the year-end was as follows Asset Category 2013 2012
 Equities 55.3% 50.6% 
 Corporate Bonds 0.0% 7.8% 
 Govt Bonds 25.6% 22.2% 
 Diversified Growth 18.7% 19.1% 
 Cash 0.4% 0.3% 
  100.0% 100.0% 
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17. Pension Schemes (cont) 
 
To develop the expected long term rate of return on asset assumptions, the Institution considered the current level of 
expected returns on risk free investments (primarily government bonds), the historical level of the risk premium associated 
with the other asset classes in which the portfolio is invested and the expectations of future returns of each asset class.  The 
expected return for each asset class was then weighted based on the target asset allocation to develop the expected long 
term rate of return on assets assumption for the portfolio.  This resulted in the selection of the 5.3% assumption for the 2013 
expense and 6.1% for the 2014 expense.  
 2013 2012
 £000 £000
Actual return on plan assets 4,659 2,942 
   
Weighted average assumptions used to determine benefit obligations:   
Discount rate 4.7% 4.2% 
Rate of salary increases 4.6% 4.0% 
Rate of price inflation 3.6% 3.0% 
Deferred revaluation (CPI based) 2.8% 2.5% 
   
Weighted average assumptions used to determine net pension cost for the year:   
Discount rate 4.2% 4.7% 
Expected long term return on plan assets 5.3% 5.5% 
Rate of salary increases 4.0% 3.9% 
Rate of price inflation (RPI) 3.0% 2.9% 
Deferred revaluations 2.5% 2.1% 
   
Weighted average life expectancy for mortality tables to determine benefit obligations   
 
  2013 2012
Member age 65 (current life expectancy)    24.5 24.4 
Member age 45 (life expectancy at age 65)    25.8 25.8 
      
Five year history 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Benefit obligation at 31 December 37,632 37,353 32,949 31,005 29,716 
Fair value of plan assets at 31 December 35,984 31,485 28,598 28,656 25,128 
Deficit (1,648) (5,868) (4,351) (2,349) (4,588) 
      
Difference between expected and actual return on scheme assets     
Amount      
Percentage of scheme assets 3,006 1,371 (2,145) 1,495 2,819 
 8% 4% -8% 5% 11% 
Experience (gains) and losses on scheme liabilities      
Amount - - (1,219) - - 
Percentage of scheme liabilities 0% 0% -4% 0% 0% 
 
Contributions 
The Institution contributed £1.036m to the scheme in the year to 31 December 2013. 
Contributions to be paid to the scheme during the annual period beginning after the reporting period are expected to 
increase by 3.6%. In addition, administrative and other expenses of the Scheme and the Pension Protection Fund levy are 
payable separately by the Institution.  
 
Group Personal Pension 
The GPP was introduced for employees on 1 October 2010 with members of the defined benefit contribution scheme joining 
on this date and members of the defined benefit scheme joining on 1 December following closure to future accrual of that 
scheme. The pension cost for this scheme for 2013 was £1.1m (2012: £1.2m). 
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18.  Analysis of Group net assets between funds 
 Unrestricted Restricted Endowment Total Total
 Funds Funds Funds 2013 2012
 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
      
Fixed assets 33,821 - - 33,821 35,219 
Investments 11,290 4,218 815 16,323 14,189 
Current assets 6,209 563 - 6,772 4,909 
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year (8,101) (47) - (8,148) (8,335) 
Creditors: amounts falling due after one year (3,070) - - (3,070) (3,438) 
Defined benefit pension scheme liability (1,648) - - (1,648) (5,868) 
      
Total net assets 38,501 4,734 815 44,050 36,676

 
19. Reserves 

 Balance Incoming Resources  Gains / Balance 

 1 Jan 2013 Resources Expended Transfers (Losses) 31 Dec 2013 

 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Unrestricted funds       
General fund 37,095 29,633 (27,876) (1,036) 1,091 38,907
Designated funds      
. Kenneth Watson Travel Award 338 8 (20) - 44 370
. Shaping the World - 872 - - - 872
Pension reserve (5,868) 109 - 1,036 3,075 (1,648)
 31,565 30,622 (27,896) - 4,210 38,501
Restricted funds       
Research and Development Enabling fund 331 143 (12) - - 462
Innovation and Research Focus 25 34 (29) - - 30
Queen’s Jubilee Scholarship Trust 3,406 501 (680) - 409 3,636
Trust funds 554 60 (47) 17 22 606
 4,316 738 (768) 17 431 4,734
Endowment funds       
Trust funds 795 - - (17) 37 815
       
 36,676 31,360 (28,664) - 4,678 44,050

 
Unrestricted funds 
The general fund represents that element of the reserves of the charity which have not been designated for any specific 
purpose.  £3.5m of these reserves are held by the charity, and £16k are retained in Thomas Telford Limited. 

During the year £872k has been set aside by the trustees as a designated fund to be applied to the Shaping The World capital 
appeal. This relates to a legacy donation from the estate of RJW Hewson. 

Transfers from the general fund into the pension reserve during the year reflect employer contributions to the defined benefit 
pension scheme of £1.036m. 

Restricted funds 
The Research and Development Enabling fund was formed to support research and development by engineers and 
organisations outside the research field, to enable them to obtain funds from other sources.  Contributions to Innovation and 
Research Focus are obtained from various organisations and used to produce a quarterly research newsletter which is 
distributed to all corporate members.  
 
The purpose of the Queen’s Jubilee Scholarship Trust (QUEST) is to award scholarships to civil engineering students, or 
travel awards to enable members to participate in voluntary work overseas or professional development grants to enable 
members in mid-career to acquire new skills or knowledge.  
 
Endowment funds 
The Trust Funds comprise 41 separate funds created by trust deed at various times and their capital is permanent 
endowment.  Prizes and awards for achievement in civil engineering are made from the investment income in accordance with 
the terms of each Trust Fund and accounted for within Restricted funds. 
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Governance and management 
The ICE Council is the governing body of the Institution of Civil Engineers and comprises of the President, immediate 
Past President, seven Vice Presidents and 35 members covering all grades of membership elected by the wider ICE 
membership.  

The President is elected annually by Council and is a leading civil engineer. He or she represents the ‘public face’ of the 
profession, promoting civil engineering around the world, in particular in dealings with governments, decision-makers and 
the media. 

Council currently meets four times a year to carry out its corporate governance responsibilities, to determine strategic 
direction and to set ICE policy in matters of education, training, qualification and knowledge. Detailed business, including 
financial matters and monitoring implementation of the business plan, is delegated to the Executive Board, chaired by the 
Senior Vice President. An advisory investment panel, reporting to Executive Board, oversees the appointment and 
performance tracking of the investment managers. Business risk and audit matters are delegated to an Audit Committee 
which reports directly to Council. 

The Council and Executive Board are ultimately responsible for governing the Institution, with specific responsibilities 
delegated to the key standing committees (Membership, Learned Society, Regional Affairs, International and Public 
Voice Committees). The day-to-day operation is the responsibility of the Director General. 

Council members are the trustees of the Institution of Civil Engineers and are elected by members worldwide, usually for 
a period of three years. There are regional members for each of the twelve UK regions as well as Hong Kong, and there 
are members representing each of ICE’s international areas: Europe, Asia Pacific, Middle East and Africa, and the 
Americas.  

To maintain continuity, a third of Council seats come up for election each year. All elected members work closely with the 
Director General and other ICE directors and employees to develop and implement the business plan to ensure that ICE 
fulfils its public benefit role of promoting and disseminating civil engineering knowledge and expertise. All Council 
members are members of ICE and, as such, must comply with the ICE Code of Professional Conduct. 

As part of their induction, new Council members are given the Council Governance Handbook. This contains the Royal 
Charter and bylaws, an outline of the role and procedures of the Council and the terms of reference of Council, Executive 
Board and other major committees. Trustees are also directed towards guidance and information about trusteeship which 
is available through the charity regulatory bodies (Charity Commission and Office of the Scottish Charity Regulator). 
Council members must ensure that they fully understand their responsibilities as trustees. Training to support them in this 
is provided. 

Issues of particular concern to Graduate and Student members are the focus of the Graduate and Students’ Network 
(GSNet), and there is a standing invite for their chairman to attend ICE Council meetings. 

 
Professional conduct matters 
The ICE disciplinary process is dealt with by the Professional Conduct Panel (PCP) which considers complaints against 
ICE members, and the Disciplinary Board which adjudicates on cases referred to it by the PCP. The Disciplinary Board 
has powers to make orders against members found guilty of improper conduct which in the most serious cases may be 
expulsion from ICE membership. 
 
Professional Conduct Panel 
In 2013 the Professional Conduct Panel considered 16 complaints against members regarding their professional 
conduct. In 10 cases the member was able to answer allegations, and the complaint was dismissed. In 3 cases the panel 
found that the member appeared to have breached the rules of professional conduct, but not seriously enough to be 
referred to the Disciplinary Board. All these members were warned about their conduct. In 2 cases the apparent improper 
conduct was serious enough to be referred to the Disciplinary Board.  One case was referred to the Disciplinary Board 
because the member had failed to provide observations on the allegations against him. 
 
Disciplinary Board 
The Disciplinary Board heard 2 cases in 2013.  The outcome in each case was as follows: 
1. The member was suspended pending full payment of an order for costs of £1,000, imposed by the Board in 2011. 
2. The member was found not guilty of improper conduct. 
 
Reservoir Safety 
 
Reservoirs Committee 
During 2013, the ICE Reservoirs Committee dealt with 38 applications from civil engineers seeking appointment or 
reappointment to panels of engineers established under the Reservoirs Act 1975 for the construction, inspection and 
supervision of large raised reservoirs in Great Britain. In 4 of these applications, the committee found that the applicants 
concerned were not qualified for appointment. 
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Governance and management (cont) 

The trustees who are serving for the 2013-2014 Council session are: 

President The following members of Council 
who served during 2013, retired from 
Council in November 2013: 

Auditor
Geoff French BDO LLP 
 55 Baker Street 
Immediate Past President Richard Coackley London 
(President Nov 2012-Nov 2013) Andrew McNaughton W1U 7EU 
Professor Barry Clarke Bill Hewlett  
 Katherine Abraham  
Senior Vice President David Anderson  
David Balmforth Karen Dingley Bankers
 Hamish Douglas HSBC Bank plc 
Vice Presidents Robert Dunn Commercial Centre 
Sir John Armitt CBE Brian Flynn 4 Hardman Square 
Tim Broyd Shelly Galvin Spinningfields 
Keith Clarke CBE Ruth Hopgood-Oates Manchester 
Adrian Coy Michael McIlhatton M3 3EB 
Stephen Fox Chai Kwong Mak  
Alan Stilwell Martin Qualters 
  Solicitors 
Members of Council  Bristows 
Regional representation in brackets Management team 100 Victoria Embankment 
1  Steven Balliston  London 
2  Stephen Barker Nick Baveystock EC4Y 0DH 
3  John Beck Director General and Secretary  
4  Alan Bromage (South East)  Radcliffes Le Brasseur 
5  Richard Burleigh (Europe–non UK) Chris Gibson 5 Great College Street 
6  Michael Burnett Group Executive Director Knowledge and 

Managing Director Thomas Telford Limited 
Westminster 

7  David Caiden (Americas) London 
8  Kyle Clough (East Midlands)  SW1P 3SJ 
9  Richard Dew (Yorks & Humber) Mike Chrimes  
10 John Dillon Director Engineering, Policy, Innovation  
11 Martin Dixon  Investment adviser 
12 Michael Field David Lloyd-Roach Mazars Financial Planning Ltd 
13 Richard Fish (South West) Director Membership Tower Bridge House 
14 Claire Gott  St. Katherine’s Way 
15 Laura Graham Sandy Pfeifer London
16 Bill Grose Group Finance Director E1W 1DD 
17 Stephen Hague (East England)   
18 Peter Hallsworth (North West) Andrew Crudgington  
19 Alistair Hitchcock Director of External Affairs & Strategy  
20 Philip Holmes (M East & Africa)   
21 Ronald Hunter (Scotland)   
22 David Johns (West Midlands) Principal Office  
23 Prof Bob Lark (Wales Cymru) One Great George Street  
24 Chi ming Lee (Hong Kong) Westminster  
25 Frank Marples London  
26 Edward McCann SW1P 3AA  
27 Emer Murnaghan   
28 Jennifer Nelson t +44 (0) 20 7222 7722  
29 Stephen Orr f+44 (0) 20 7222 7500  
30 David Porter (N Ireland) Ice.org.uk  
31 Neil Sandberg   
32 Anusha Shah Registered charity number 210252  
33 Ken Smith (London) Charity registered in Scotland  
34 Brian Taylor (North East) number SCO38629  
35 Tim Warren (Asia Pacific excl HK)   

 

 


